IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC06-1786

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DOCKET NO. 060300-TL

GTC, Inc. d/b/a GT Com

Appellant,

v.

The Florida Public Service Commission, Lisa Polak Edgar, in her official capacity as Chairman of the Florida Public Service Commission; and J. Terry Deason, Isilio Arriaga, Matthew M. Carter II, and Katrina J. Tew, in their official capacities as Commissioners of the Florida Public Service Commission,

Appellees

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MARSHA E. RULE Florida Bar Number 0302066 KENNETH A. HOFFMAN Florida Bar Number 0307718 Rutledge, Ecenia, Purnell & Hoffman, P.A. Post Office Box 551 Tallahassee, Florida 32302-0551

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Before 1995, Florida incumbent local exchange telephone companies ("ILECs") were monopolies subject to rate base, rate of return regulation. Under this form of regulation, the PSC set the rates each company could charge its customers based on an exhaustive evidentiary examination of the utility's books and records in order to determine the amount of money reasonably invested in providing utility service, subject to a number of regulatory adjustments. The Commission then set service rates calculated to yield the amount of revenue necessary to recover the company's normal costs of operation plus a Commissionestablished rate of return on the utility's investment. (Tr. Vol. 1, pgs. 60-61, 64-65) However, 1995 brought a major legislative overhaul of Chapter 364, Florida Statutes, which opened the doors to telecommunications competition and introduced ILECs to price regulation, a greatly reduced level of regulatory oversight.

Pursuant to §364.051(1)(c), Florida Statutes (1995), ILECs that elected price regulation were exempted from rate base, rate of return regulation and from the specific statutes under which the PSC formerly regulated their rates and services:

Each company subject to this section shall be exempt from rate base, rate of return regulation and the requirements of ss 364.03, 364.035, 364.037, 364.05, 364.055, 365.14, 364.17, and 364.18.

This exemption, however, did not provide ILECs with freedom to set their

own rates. Instead, rates were temporarily frozen, or capped, at 1995 levels, with only three possible avenues for an increase: First, beginning in 2000, price-regulated ILECs could increase basic rates once per year by an amount reflecting inflation minus one percent pursuant to \$364.051(4), Florida Statutes (1995). Second, rates for nonbasic services could be increased by a larger amount pursuant to \$364.051(6), Florida Statutes (1995). And third, recognizing that local service competition may not develop quickly or smoothly, the Legislature provided a fall-back hardship option, which permitted any price-regulated ILEC to seek a general increase in its basic local rates upon "a compelling showing of changed circumstances" pursuant to \$364.051(5), Florida Statutes (1995). That statute has been amended and is now codified as \$364.051(4)(a), Florida Statutes.

In 2005, after an extraordinary 2004 hurricane season in which Florida was struck by four damaging storms in quick succession, the Legislature amended \$364.051(4), Florida Statutes, to permit ILECs to recover the costs of repairing hurricane damage through a limited customer surcharge. (App. Tab 1) Unlike \$\$364.051(3), (4)(a) and (6), all of which permit permanent general rate increases, newly-enacted \$364.051(4)(b) provides for a direct customer surcharge that is

¹ This provision was later amended and is now codified as §364.051(3), Florida Statutes.

² This provision also has been amended, and is now codified as §364.051(5), Florida Statutes.

limited in amount (up to \$0.50 per customer) and may be imposed for a limited period of time (up to one year), and which may be imposed solely to assist in the ILEC's recovery of hurricane repair expenses.

Section 364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, provides a clear and unambiguous roadmap by which a qualifying ILEC can recover its "intrastate costs and expenses relating to repairing, restoring, or replacing the lines, plants, or facilities" damaged by a hurricane, subject *only* to the following requirements:

- (1) The costs and expenses must be verified. §364.051(4)(b)2.
- (2) The costs and expenses must be reasonable under the circumstances for the specific storm. §364.051(4)(b)3.
- (3) If a company has a storm reserve fund, it may recover only those costs and expenses in excess of the amount available in the fund. §364.051(4)(b)4.
- (4) Cost recovery is capped at a maximum charge of \$6.00 per customer line per storm season. §\$364.051(4)(b)5. and 8.
- (5) Finally, the costs and expenses must exceed a minimum amount that ranges from \$0 for companies with fewer than 1 million access lines up to \$5 million for companies with 3 million or more access lines. §364.051(4)(b)(7).

GT Com petitioned the PSC on March 31, 2006, for authority to recover costs and expenses it had incurred to repair, restore and replace its lines, plants and facilities that were damaged by Hurricane Dennis in 2005. (R. Vol. 1, Pg. 1) The OPC intervened in the proceeding as permitted by §350.0611, Florida Statutes. (R. Vol. 1, Pgs. 14, 17)

The PSC held a hearing on June 28, 2006, during which three witnesses testified. GT Com's witness, R. Mark Ellmer, presented direct and rebuttal testimony. In addition, Hugh Larkin, Jr. provided direct testimony on behalf of OPC and Michael Buckley provided direct testimony on behalf of the PSC Staff.

The PSC issued its *Order* on August 7, 2006. (App. Tab 2) Despite the plain language of §364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, the agency denied recovery of the majority of GT Com's costs and expenses relating to repairing, restoring, or replacing the lines, plants or facilities damaged by Hurricane Dennis. GT Com timely filed its Notice of Appeal on September 5, 2006. GT Com was the first company to seek recovery under §364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, and to date, the PSC has held no other hearings and issued no other orders regarding recovery under the statute.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The PSC verified that GT incurred interstate costs and expenses of \$312,693, exclusive of taxes and carrying costs, related to repairing, restoring or replacing its lines, plants and facilities that were damaged by Hurricane Dennis in 2005. Although it failed to find that the costs were unreasonable in amount or unreasonably incurred, the Commission nevertheless denied recovery of \$224,829, or 72% of GT Com's repair costs, erroneously theorizing that \$364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, permitted it to impose numerous limitations on recovery that are

not identified within the statute itself. Specifically, the PSC erroneously denied recovery of uncontroverted costs and expenses unquestionably incurred to repair, restore and replace its lines, plants and facilities on the grounds that (a) GT Com would have spent some equivalent amount of money performing routine maintenance tasks in the absence of hurricane damage and thus should recover only for in-house labor costs in excess of that amount; (b) the statute does not permit recovery of the cost of replacing lines, plants and facilities that will remain in service for several years; and (c) GT Com should not be reimbursed for replacement costs of some facilities because the company could receive an unknown amount of Universal Service funds from the Federal Communications Commission's High Cost Loop Support program beginning in 2007, which funds should be used to offset GT Com's 2005 hurricane repair costs.³

The Commission's interpretation of the statute renders it nearly meaningless, and its *Order* is clearly erroneous because it contravenes the plain language of the statute and constitutes an impermissible attempt to apply rate base, rate of return regulation to GT Com, a price capped ILEC that is statutorily exempt from such regulation. Further, there was no competent substantial evidence to support the agency's decision to impute a speculative amount of future funding against

_

³ GT Com has not challenged the PSC's denial of its request for recovery of certain other expenses.

expenses actually incurred by GT Com in 2005 to repair hurricane damage. Accordingly, the *Order* must be reversed.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The PSC's erroneous interpretation of §364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, is purely a legal matter and thus the standard of review is de novo. Sullivan v. Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 890 So.2d 417 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004); Although an agency's contemporaneous §120.68(7)(d), Florida Statutes. construction of statutes it is charged with enforcing is entitled to "great weight" and will be upheld unless "clearly unauthorized or erroneous" (PW Ventures, Inc. v. Nichols, 533 So.2d 281, 283 (Fla. 1988)), an interpretation contrary to the plain meaning of a statute is clearly erroneous and therefore not entitled to great – or indeed any - weight. Verizon Florida Inc. v. Jacobs, 810 So.2d 906 (Fla. 2002). See also Sullivan, id. (no deference required where agency's view is contrary to plain meaning of statute). Further, the traditional deference granted to the PSC's consideration of evidentiary issues has no application to questions of law. Tampa Electric Company v. Garcia, 767 So.2d 428 (Fla. 2000).

While it has sometimes been said that the PSC's orders are "clothed with the statutory presumption that they have been made within the Commission's jurisdiction and powers, and ... are reasonable and just....", §364.20, Florida Statutes (1959), the statute that supplied the presumption, was expressly repealed

in 1980 and is no longer applicable. *See, General Tel. Co. v. Carter,* 115 So.2d 554, 556 (Fla. 1959) and cases citing it for reference to the "statutory presumption"; *see also* Ch. 80-36, Sec. 31, Laws of Florida, which repealed the presumption. Instead, the agency's decisions of law must be reviewed under the standard set forth in §120.68(7)(d), Florida Statutes, which provides as follows:

- (7) The Court shall remand a case to the agency for further proceedings consistent with the court's decision to set aside agency action, when it finds that:
- (d) The agency has erroneously interpreted a provision of law and a correct interpretation compels a particular action....

See also Parlato v. Secret Oaks Owners Association, 793 So.2d 1158 (Fla. 1st DCA 2001)(principle that appellate courts generally are not required to defer to lower tribunals on issues of law has been incorporated in §120.68(7)(d), Florida Statutes and thus final order based on conclusion of law is subject to *de novo* review).

Point III of this Brief addresses the PSC's erroneous decision to impute a speculative amount of future funding against expenses actually incurred by GT Com in 2005 to repair hurricane damage. This decision involves both an erroneous interpretation of §364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, for which the standard of review is *de novo*, as well as an erroneous factual finding, the standard of review for which is whether it is supported by competent substantial evidence. Section 120.68(7), Florida Statutes.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION ERRONEOUSLY INTERPRETED AND APPLIED SECTION 364.051(4)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES TO LIMIT GT COM'S HURRICANE COST RECOVERY TO ONLY THAT PORTION OF ITS COSTS AND EXPENSES IN EXCESS OF A BASELINE AMOUNT THE COMPANY WOULD HAVE EXPENDED IN ITS NORMAL OPERATIONS IN THE ABSENCE OF A HURRICANE, THUS DENYING GT COM RECOVERY OF UNCONTROVERTED IN-ACTUALLY HOUSE LABOR COSTS AND **EXPENSES** REASONABLY INCURRED TO REPAIR, RESTORE OR REPLACE ITS LINES, PLANTS AND FACILITIES DAMAGED BY HURRICANE **DENNIS**.

Section 364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, provides a clear and unambiguous roadmap by which a qualifying ILEC can recover its "costs and expenses relating to" hurricane repairs, subject only to three requirements:

The costs and expenses must relate to hurricane repairs. The statute broadly provides for recovery of "costs and expenses", which need only "relate to" repair, restoration or replacement of damaged facilities, thus implying a broad and expansive reading of the phrase.

The costs and expenses must be verified. The statute requires the PSC to "verify" the costs and expenses. §364.051(4)(b)2. The term "verify" clearly is used in its ordinary sense to indicate that the agency must review the claimed costs and expenses to determine whether they were accurately recorded and truthfully reported.

The costs and expenses must be reasonable under the circumstances

presented by the particular hurricane that caused the damage. The company must show that the costs and expenses are reasonable under the circumstances presented by the particular hurricane event. §364.051(4)(b)3. That is, not only must the company accurately record and report its hurricane repair costs and expenses as required by subparagraph (4)(b)2, but it must also demonstrate that the costs and expenses were reasonable in amount and were reasonably incurred in light of the damage caused by the particular storm.

For example, where post-hurricane damage is so great that the demand for labor outstrips the supply, the Commission should consider whether labor costs that otherwise might be considered excessive actually were reasonable under those particular circumstances. Similarly, the Commission should consider whether severely damaged facilities should be replaced instead of repaired, even though repair was possible and might be less expensive in the short term.

Once the Commission has verified hurricane repair costs and determined that they are reasonable in amount and were reasonably incurred, the company's recovery is subject to three specific and significant limitations:

First, a company may not petition for hurricane cost recovery unless its costs and expenses exceed a minimum amount that ranges from \$0 for small companies like GT Com that serve fewer than 1 million access lines, up to \$5 million for companies with 3 million or more access lines. §364.051(4)(b)(7).

Second, recovery is limited to costs and expenses in excess of the amount available in its storm reserve fund, if any. §364.051(4)(b)4. GT Com has no storm reserve fund. ⁴

Finally, cost recovery is capped at \$0.50 per customer line per month for a period of one year, resulting in a maximum charge of \$6.00. §\$364.051(4)(b)5. and 8. GT Com serves 46,861 lines and the cap therefore results in amaximum recovery of \$281,166. (Tr. Vol. 1, Pg. 32)

GT Com sought recovery of intrastate costs and expenses in the amount of \$312,693, net of taxes and carrying costs, for labor and materials necessary to repair, restore and replace the lines, plants and facilities damaged by Hurricane Dennis. (Exhibit RME-10, found in Composite Hearing Exhibit No. 5) Much of this expense consisted of labor costs. Some labor was contracted out to third parties due to the magnitude of the work, the need to have it completed as soon as

_

⁴ A "storm reserve" is an optional accounting technique sometimes used by rate of return regulated utilities in order to level out the earnings impact of major storms by crediting a fixed monthly amount to the reserve. The costs of a major storm then would be charged against the balance in the account, thus preventing an abnormally large fluctuation in the company's reported earnings. *See* Rule 25-6.0143, Florida Administrative Code (applicable only to electric utilities). (App. Tab 3) A "storm reserve fund" is an account that the company has actually funded with cash derived from a customer surcharge. *See*, for example, Order No. PSC-06-0772-PAA-EI in which the Commission permitted a rate of return electric utility to extend its previously-approved customer surcharge in order to fund its storm reserve. (App. Tab 4) Storm reserves are unique to such utilities; Generally Accepted Accounting Principles prohibit accruals for uninsured and unquantifiable future losses in most cases.

possible, and the fact that GT Com is a small company with insufficient staff to repair all damage caused by the hurricane. The remaining work was performed in house by company employees. (Tr. Vol. 1, Pgs. 40-47)

The company used a series of hurricane-specific work orders to track the cost of all hurricane-specific repair work, including labor by both contractors and employees. (Tr. Vol. 1, Pgs. 38-39; Exhibits RME-2, 4, and 6-10 in Composite Hearing Exhibit No. 5) Mr. Ellmer, GT Com's Regional Controller, testified that the dollar amounts charged to those work orders related solely to hurricane repairs, that it was necessary to perform the work and incur the charges, and that the costs incurred were reasonable in amount. (Tr. Vol. 1, Pgs. 38-39) There is absolutely no evidence in the record that contradicts Mr. Ellmer's testimony, and in fact, the Commission found that GT Com actually incurred total intrastate costs and expenses of \$312,693 to repair, restore or replace the lines, plants or facilities damaged by Hurricane Dennis, exclusive of taxes and carrying charges. *Order*, Pg. 4; 06 FPSC 8:175-176.

Among other costs, GT Com sought recovery of its direct cost for productive in-house employee time, calculated on an hourly basis, exclusive of benefits and overhead. ⁵ (Tr. Vol. 1, Pgs. 48, 49, 58; Exhibit RME-10) In-house labor was used for a number of hurricane repair functions, including but not limited to replacing

⁵ GT Com also sought recovery for benefit and overhead allocations associated with its labor costs, and does not challenge the PSC's denial of this request.

aerial drop wire knocked down by the hurricane, repairing other damaged lines, plants and facilities as necessary to restore service to customers, and repairing and replacing telephone pedestals damaged by the storm. In-house labor also included the direct cost of engineer time necessary to formulate and prepare plans for the contractors to make extensive repairs and replacement of facilities and restoration of plant damaged by Hurricane Dennis on Alligator Point (installation of fiber and copper cable and a cross-connect system) and Indian Pass (installation of fiber cable in Franklin County). (Tr. Vol. 1, Pgs. 41-43)

Significantly, the Commission did not find that GT Com failed to verify its in-house labor costs, that such costs were excessive or that they were not reasonably incurred. Instead, ignoring the plain language of the statute, the PSC imposed an additional limitation on recovery not found in the statute:

We find that the phrase "reasonable under the circumstances" allows us great latitude in determining the methodology and factors that should be taken into consideration when reviewing the petitioner's request. We also find that this statute was enacted to assist the petitioner in defraying additional costs caused by extraordinary circumstances, specifically tropical storms.

One of the main goals of this statute is to assist the petitioner financially. Accordingly, the reasonable clause implicitly ensures that storm related cost recovery should be <u>based on expenditures incurred over and above normal operating expenditures</u>. It is highly unlikely that the Legislature intended, through Section 364.051(4), Florida Statutes, to reimburse companies for costs that they

would have incurred regardless of whether a storm had occurred or not.

Order, Pg. 6; 06 FPSC 8:177, italics in original, other emphasis added.

Based on this erroneous determination, the Commission denied GT Com recovery of the uncontroverted cost of its in-house labor in the amount of \$43,068 for hurricane repairs, arguing that the company was "already recovering" the cost of its in-house labor "through its normal business operations" and therefore the cost "was not incurred as an extraordinary amount related to Hurricane Dennis":

GT Com's in-house labor costs should be removed for storm cost recovery purposes. GT Com's in-house labor costs should not be included in the amount to be recovered through a storm charge as the Company is already recovering this amount through its normal business operations. Witness Ellmer agreed during cross examination that its in-house labor costs that were included in GT Com's storm cost recovery amount, would have been incurred by the Company regardless of whether Hurricane Dennis had occurred. included for in-house labor, therefore, was not incurred as an extraordinary amount related to Hurricane Dennis. Since the labor costs would have been incurred by GT Com regardless of whether Hurricane Dennis had occurred, it is not reasonable for the Company to recover these costs through the storm charge recovery mechanism.

Order, Pg. 9; 06 FPSC 8:180-181, emphasis added. In essence, the Commission arbitrarily denied recovery of the cost of in-house necessary to repair hurricane damage on the theory that the company would have paid employees to accomplish other tasks in the absence of a hurricane, and that it was already being reimbursed

by its customers for these expenses. These rulings are patently erroneous because they ignore the clear, straightforward language of the statute and improperly apply rate-base, rate of return regulation to a price-regulated company. ⁶

A. The Commission's ruling contravenes the plain and unambiguous language of the statute.

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