## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA CASE NO. SC06-1786

## FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION DOCKET NO. 060300-TL

GTC, INC., d/b/a GT COM,

Appellant,

v.

LISA POLAK EDGAR, ETC., ET AL.,

Appellees.

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE THE FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Christiana T. Moore Associate General Counsel Florida Bar No. 346810

David E. Smith Attorney Supervisor Florida Bar No. 309011

FLORIDA PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION 2540 Shumard Oak Blvd.
Tallahassee, FL 32399-0862 850-413-6199

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEES

##

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

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Commission's Order on GT Com's request for storm cost recovery was based on a correct interpretation of section 364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, and it is supported by competent substantial evidence. Section 364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, requires the Commission to examine a company's request for a surcharge to determine the costs and expenses that are reasonable under the circumstances before a company may recover any costs from its customers. Based on its interpretation of the statute, the Commission denied GT Com recovery through a storm surcharge of amounts it determined that GT Com would have incurred in the absence of a tropical storm, and costs it would recover by other means.

Through a series of straw man arguments, GT Com asserts that the Commission must ignore whether it has already recovered the same costs from its customers through their monthly rates, or whether it will recover the costs through means other than the storm surcharge. Thus, GT Com contends that the plain and obvious meaning of the terms "costs and expenses" as used in the statute is *all* costs and expenses in any way related to a named tropical storm. In GT Com's view, the statute would require its customers to pay certain costs, such as its employees' regular salaries and benefits during a period following a named tropical storm at least twice—once through their normal rates, and again through a storm surcharge tacked on top of the monthly rates. The Commission correctly

determined that the costs representing the normal salaries of GT Com's regular employees that GT Com would have incurred regardless of whether it experienced any damage from Hurricane Dennis were not reasonable.

GT Com's argument regarding improper rate of return regulation is also a straw man argument. Whether companies are rate of return regulated or price regulated is irrelevant. The statutes for both types of companies require the Commission to determine reasonableness before allowing recovery by imposing a surcharge or increased rates on customers.

Similarly, GT Com's argument that the Commission failed to consider the "circumstances for the named tropical system" is meritless. The Commission did look at particular facts and circumstances under which GT Com's hurricane related costs were incurred, and it allowed recovery through the surcharge where it found the costs were incremental and would not have been incurred in the absence of Hurricane Dennis. In this case, however, GT Com simply did not have any capital costs that exceeded normal costs. The Commission's decision with regard to GT Com's capital costs is consistent with its prior and subsequent decisions on storm cost surcharges, in cases involving both price regulated companies and rate of return regulated companies.

The Commission did not use the legislative history of the storm recovery surcharge statute to change the plain meaning of the statute. The Commission on

its own determined that the purpose of statute was not to provide double recovery which would be the result if it allowed costs the company is already recovering from its customers through their regular rates. The Commission merely confirmed its interpretation by referring to a Senate staff report that shows the Commission's interpretation is not just a possible one or a reasonable one, it is the correct one.

The Commission's decision to account for GT Com's reimbursement of storm damage costs through the Universal Service Fund also properly recognized that section 364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, was not intended to provide GT Com with double recovery. GT Com's witness testified at hearing to the amount of Universal Service Fund high cost loop support that it should receive based on including its Hurricane Dennis costs in its reports for funding from the Universal Service Fund. There is nothing reasonable about charging customers a storm damage surcharge when other funds will reimburse GT Com for those same storm costs. The Commission's decision was reasonable and is supported by the record.

GT Com has failed to overcome the presumption of validity that attaches to orders of the Commission. It has not shown that the Commission's Order was unsupported by competent substantial evidence or that the Commission abused its discretion. The Commission's order should be affirmed.

#### ARGUMENT

I. THE COMMISSION CORRECTLY INTERPRETED AND APPLIED SECTION 364.051(4)(b), FLORIDA STATUTES, TO ALLOW GT COM TO COLLECT A STORM COST SURCHARGE FOR ONLY THOSE COSTS THAT EXCEEDED ITS NORMAL OPERATING COSTS.

Section 364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, authorizes an incumbent local exchange telecommunications company to petition the Commission for recovery of its intrastate costs and expenses for repairing, restoring, or replacing the lines, plants, or facilities damaged by a named tropical system. The statute provides that the Commission "shall verify the intrastate costs and expenses submitted by the company," and that the Commission "shall determine whether the intrastate costs and expenses are reasonable under the circumstances for the named tropical system." § 364.051(4)(b) 2, 3, Fla. Stat. (2005).

GT Com asserts that the Commission may only determine whether its costs are reasonable in amount and reasonably incurred in light of the damage caused by the particular storm, in this case Hurricane Dennis. (I.B. at 10) GT Com would have the Commission and this Court ignore whether it has already recovered the same costs from its customers through their monthly rates, or whether it will recover the costs through means other than the storm surcharge. Thus, in GT Com's view, it is perfectly permissible for its customers to pay certain costs, such as its employees' regular salaries and benefits during a period following a named

tropical storm at least twice—once through their normal rates, and again through a storm surcharge tacked on top of the monthly rates. The Commission disagreed.

GT Com initially sought to recover \$463,710 through the storm surcharge, an amount that was reduced to \$312,693 when the Commission removed intrastate taxes and carrying charges of \$151,017, finding that these costs were not direct costs associated with the storm. (R. Vol. 2, Pg. 263, Order Pg. 4) GT Com does not assert the Commission erred in making this adjustment. The Commission agreed that the remaining \$312,693 were costs and expenses that GT Com attributed through its work orders to repairing, restoring, or replacing the lines, plants, or facilities damaged by Hurricane Dennis. Contrary to GT Com's implication at page 12 of its initial brief, however, the Commission did not agree that \$312,693 were costs and expenses that were properly verified or reasonable, and that they should be recovered through a customer surcharge. (R. Vol. 2, Pg. 263, Order Pg. 4)

GT Com focuses in Point I of its argument on the Commission's disallowance of its in-house labor costs in the amount of \$43,068. In addition to this amount, the Commission disallowed GT Com's claim for \$19,767 in overhead and \$38,952 in benefits allocated to in-house labor, which GT Com does not challenge. GT Com also contracted for labor with third parties for storm damage work. The cost of this outside labor was reasonable for recovery through the

surcharge to the extent it was an incremental cost; that is, to the extent it was not budgeted for by GT Com and therefore not covered by its normal rates. The amount the Commission did not allow, \$43,068, represented the normal salaries of GT Com's regular employees that it would have incurred regardless of whether it experienced any damage from Hurricane Dennis. (R. Vol. 2, Pg. 268, 277)

# A. The Commission's Decision To Disallow Double Recovery Is Consistent With The Statute's Direction To Determine "Reasonable" Costs To Be Recovered From Customers.

The Commission is given the authority and responsibility by section 364.051.(4)(b), Florida Statutes, to determine what costs and expenses are reasonable under the circumstances for recovery through a storm surcharge. The Commission determined that for GT Com's in-house labor costs and expenses to be reasonable for recovery under the statutory scheme, they must be incremental costs—that is, costs in excess of GT Com's normal costs that are already being recovered from its customers through their monthly rates.

GT Com contends that the terms "costs and expenses" have a plain and obvious meaning that is completely unambiguous. In GT Com's view, this means all costs and expenses including the regular salaries of its employees plus allocated shares of overhead and benefits. Although the Commission did not premise its decision on the meaning of "costs and expenses" standing alone, the meaning of the terms are not as plain as GT Com would have the Court believe. The term

"cost" or the terms "costs and expenses" may be words of common, everyday usage as GT Com asserts, but they are susceptible to multiple interpretations depending on context. Justice Souter, delivering the opinion of the United States Supreme Court, has written the following in the context of his analysis of the Federal Communications Commission telecommunications pricing rules:

[a]t the most basic level of common usage, "cost" has no such clear implication. A merchant who is asked about "the cost of providing the goods" he sells may reasonably quote their current wholesale market price, not the cost of the particular items he happens to have on his shelves, which may have been bought at higher or lower prices.

\* \* \*

The fact is that without any better indication of meaning than the unadorned term, the word "cost" in §252(d)(1), as in accounting generally, is "a chameleon," *Strickland v. Commissioner, Maine Dept. of Human Services*, 96 F.3d 542, 546 (CA1 1996), a "virtually meaningless" term, R. Estes, Dictionary of Accounting 32 (2d ed. 1985).

Verizon Communication Inc., et al. v. Federal Communications Commission, et al., 535 U.S. 467, 498, 500 (2002).

GT Com's plain meaning argument also ignores the requirement that the costs and expenses must be reasonable, and it ignores the history of the statute. Prior to the 2005 legislation, section 364.051(4), Florida Statutes, provided that a price cap regulated telecommunications company could petition for a rate increase if it made a showing of substantially changed circumstances to justify an increase.

In 2005, this part of the statute was made paragraph (4)(a), and paragraph (4)(b) was added to establish that damage from a named tropical storm constitutes a compelling showing of changed circumstances. Chapter 2005-132, § 28 at 27, Laws of Fla.

The addition to the statute is not fundamentally different in any way that supports GT Com's claim that all costs must be allowed regardless of whether they are incremental or extraordinary costs. The prior statute, now section (4)(a), did not address any particular allowable costs at all, except to provide that the costs and expenses of a specified governmental program were not recoverable and thus were not to be considered a changed circumstance. Under either version of the statute, the Legislature did not intend the Commission to allow recovery of anything other than extraordinary costs; that is, costs that are incremental and that would not have been incurred in the absence of substantially changed circumstances.

# B. The Commission Properly Considered the "Circumstances for the Named Tropical System."

GT Com contends that the Commission disregarded any factual circumstances unique to Hurricane Dennis, and disregarded the magnitude of damage that was caused by it. (I.B. at 21) That is not true. The Commission considered the evidence of damage that GT Com offered and its Order describes the circumstances of the hurricane. (R. Vol. 2, Pg. 262, Order Pg. 3) The

Commission also allowed recovery through the surcharge of outside contractor costs that were not budgeted and that were required specifically because GT Com asserted that the Hurricane damage work exceeded the capabilities of its in-house labor. Thus, the Commission did look at particular facts and circumstances under which GT Com's hurricane related costs were incurred. GT Com identifies no verified incremental labor costs attributable to Hurricane Dennis damage that the Commission did not allow.

# C. The Commission Did Not Err in Confirming Its Interpretation of Section 364.051(4)(B) by Reference to Legislative History Materials.

Just as courts often do, the Commission reviewed a legislative staff report to confirm its understanding and interpretation of section 364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes. Such reports on legislation directly affecting an agency are commonly within the knowledge of an agency even as the legislation wends its way through the Legislature.

The Commission did not use the legislative history of the storm recovery surcharge statute to change the plain meaning of the statute. The Commission on its own determined that the purpose of statute was not to provide double recovery which would be the result if it allowed costs the company is already recovering from its customers through their regular rates. The Commission merely confirmed its interpretation by referring to the Senate staff report quoted in a footnote on page

two of its Order, and contained in GT Com's Appendix to its initial brief at Tab 6. The House of Representatives staff report, as well as a second Senate committee staff report, explained the language of (4)(b) in essentially the same terms:

Effective upon becoming law, the bill amends s. 364.051(4), F.S. by finding that evidence of damage to the "lines, plant, and facilities" of a LEC with a carrierof-last resort obligations due to named tropical systems occurring after June 1, 2005, constitutes a compelling showing of a changed circumstance. In the event of a named tropical system, the LEC would be permitted to seek recovery of its intrastate costs and expenses related to "repairing, restoring, and replacing" damaged equipment. The PSC would be responsible for verifying the intrastate costs and expenses submitted by the company to determine that they were reasonable under the circumstances. Traditionally, for rate-base regulated industries, the Commission would apply a "prudent and reasonable" test to ensure, for example, that costs are not double recovered, are booked to the appropriate costs (sic) accounts, and are necessary for the restoration process. The proposed language proposes a similar type review.

Fla. H.R. Utilities and Telecommunications Comm. and Commerce Council, CS for HB 1649 Staff Analysis 6-7 (4/26/2005)available at at http://www.myfloridahouse.gov/; Fla. Senate Comm. on Commerce and Consumer Services and Comm. on Communications and Public Utilities, CS for SB 2232 Staff Analysis at 7-8 (4/15/2005) & Fla. Senate Government Efficiency Approp. Comm. CS/CS/CS/SB 2068 at 6-7 (4/26/2005)available at http://www.flsenate.gov/session/ (The Senate bill that was enacted as Chapter 2005-132, Laws of Fla, CS/CS/SB 1322, in its final version incorporated the amendment to section 364.051(4) that was contained in these bills.)

The Commission is well aware that legislative staff reports are aids that are written by staff to explain legislation. Nevertheless, the reports bolster the Commission's interpretation and support a determination that its interpretation of section 364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, is not only a reasonable and possible interpretation, but that it is the correct interpretation. Notably, GT Com has not presented any legislative history to support a different interpretation of the statute. GT Com's interpretation is contrary to the legislative analyses and to the Commission's interpretation. The Commission's interpretation is not just a possible one or a reasonable one, it is the correct one. This Court should defer to the Commission's interpretation. *Crist v. Jaber*, 908 So. 2d 426, 430 (Fla. 2005).

# D. The Commission Properly Analyzed GT Com's Costs and Expenses to Determine Whether They Should be Paid for by Customers Through a Surcharge.

The Commission acted well within the terms of the statute and its discretion to interpret and apply section 364.051(4)(b), Florida Statutes, to authorize GT Com to collect a storm cost surcharge for only those costs attributable to Hurricane Dennis that exceeded the costs already being paid for by its customers. Contrary to GT Com's assertion, the Commission did not improperly apply rate base, rate of return regulation to GT Com to conclude that the company is already recovering its

in-house labor costs through "its normal business operations." (R. Vol. 2, Pg. 268, Order Pg. 9)

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